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CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union

The Board of directors of BNP Paribas approved the Group consolidated financial statements on 31 January 2024.

The consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas Group are presented for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022.
In accordance with Annex | of European Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980, the consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021 are provided in the Universal registration document filed with the Autorité des Marchés Financiers on 24 March 2023 under
number D.23-0143.

On 18 December 2021, the Group concluded an agreement with BMO Financial Group for the sale of 100% of its retail and commercial banking
activities in the United States operated by the BancWest cash-generating unit. The terms of this transaction fall within the scope of application of
IFRS 5 relating to groups of assets and liabilities held for sale (see note 9.e Discontinued activities) leading to isolate the “Net income from
discontinued activities” on a separate line. A similar reclassification is made in the statement of net income and changes in assets and liabilities
recognised directly in equity and in the cash flow statement.

Following the receipt of regulatory approvals, the transaction was finalised on 1 February 2023.

PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2023

Interest income 3a 79,542 41,082
Interest expense 3a (60,484) (20,149)
Commission income 3b 15,011 14,622
Commission expense 3b (5,190) (4,457)
Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss 3.c 10,346 9,352
Net gain on financial instruments at fair value through equity 3.d 28 138
Net gain on derecognised financial assets at amortised cost 66 (41)
Net income from insurance activities 6.a 2,320 1,901
of which Insurance revenue 8,945 8,759
Insurance service expenses (6,786) (6,619)
Investment return 10,254 (12,077)
Net finance income or expenses from insurance contracts (10,093) 11,838
Income from other activities 3e 18,560 15,734
Expense on other activities 3e (14,325) (12,752)
REVENUES FROM CONTINUING ACTIVITIES 45874 45,430
Operating expenses 3f (28,713) (27,560)
aD:;JgteSmatlon, amortisation and impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible 5 (2,243) (2,304)
GROSS OPERATING INCOME FROM CONTINUING ACTIVITIES 14,918 15,566
Cost of risk 39 (2,907) (3,003)
Other net losses for risk on financial instruments 3.h (775) -
OPERATING INCOME FROM CONTINUING ACTIVITIES 11,236 12,563
Share of earnings of equity-method entities 5k 593 655
Net gain on non-current assets 3 (104) (253)
Goodwill 5m - 249
PRE-TAX INCOME FROM CONTINUING ACTIVITIES 11,725 13,214
Corporate income tax from continuing activities 3, (3,266) (3,653)
NET INCOME FROM CONTINUING ACTIVITIES 8,459 9,561
Net income from discontinued activities 9e 2,947 687
NET INCOME 11,406 10,248
Net income attributable to minority interests 431 400
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 10,975 9,848
Basic earnings per share 9.a 8.58 7.52
Diluted earnings per share 9.a 8.58 7.52
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STATEMENT OF NET INCOME AND CHANGES IN ASSETS AND
LIABILITIES RECOGNISED DIRECTLY IN EQUITY

Year to 31 Dec. 2022

Year to 31 Dec. 2023 restated according to

IFRS 17 and 9
Net income for the period 11,406 10,248
Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity 596 (2,183)
Items that are or may be reclassified to profit or loss 367 (2,381)
- Changes in exchange differences (109) 1,041
- Changes in fair value of financial assets at fair value through equity
Changes in fair value recognised in equity 244 (754)
Changes in fair value reported in net income 27 (120)
- Changes in fair value of investments of insurance activities
Changes in fair value recognised in equity 4,665 (19,962)
Changes in fair value reported in net income 558 (1)
- Changes in fair value of contracts of insurance activities (4,573) 18,102
- Changes in fair value of hedging instruments
Changes in fair value recognised in equity 146 (1,459)
Changes in fair value reported in net income 22 14
- Income tax (283) 1,062
- Changes in equity-method investments, after tax (162) 136
- Changes in discontinued activities, after tax (168) (440)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss 229 198
- Changes in fair value of equity instruments designated as at fair value through equity 232 (57)
- Debt remeasurement effect arising from BNP Paribas Group issuer risk 45 515
- Remeasurement gains (losses) related to post-employment benefit plans (173) (102)
- Income tax 1 (81)
- Changes in equity-method investments, after tax 114 (83)
- Changes in discontinued activities, after tax - 6
Total 12,002 8,065
- Attributable to equity shareholders 11,479 7,572
- Attributable to minority interests 523 493
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BALANCE SHEET AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

31 December 2022

The bank for a changing world

: 1 January 2022
31 December 2023 restated according to

In millions of euros Notes - IFRS 17 and 9 1AS 29, IFRS 17 and 9
ASSETS
Cash and balances at central banks 288,259 318,560 347,883
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Securities 5a 211,634 166,077 191,507

Loans and repurchase agreements 5.a 227,175 191,125 249,808

Derivative financial instruments 5.a 292,079 327,932 240,423
Derivatives used for hedging purposes 5b 21,692 25,401 8,680
Financial assets at fair value through equity

Debt securities 5.c 50,274 35,878 38,915

Equity securities 5.c 2,275 2,188 2,558
Financial assets at amortised cost

Loans and advances to credit institutions 5e 24,335 32,616 21,751

Loans and advances to customers 5e 859,200 857,020 814,000

Debt securities 5e 121,161 114,014 108,612
Remeasurement adjustment on interest-rate risk hedged portfolios (2,661) (7,477) 3,005
Investments and other assets related to insurance activities 6.c 257,098 245475 282,288
Current and deferred tax assets 5. 6,556 5,932 5,954
Accrued income and other assets 5j 170,758 208,543 177,176
Equity-method investments 5k 6,751 6,073 5,468
Property, plant and equipment and investment property 5l 45,222 38,468 35,191
Intangible assets 5l 4,142 3,790 3,659
Goodwill 5.m 5,549 5,294 5,121
Assets held for sale 9e - 86,839 91,267
TOTAL ASSETS 2,591,499 2,663,748 2,633,266
LIABILITIES
Deposits from central banks 3,374 3,054 1,244
Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss

Securities 5.a 104,910 99,155 112,338

Deposits and repurchase agreements 5.a 273,614 234,076 292,160

Issued debt securities 5.a 83,763 65,578 64,197

Derivative financial instruments 5.a 278,892 300,121 237,635
Derivatives used for hedging purposes 5b 38,011 40,001 10,076
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Deposits from credit institutions 59 95,175 124,718 165,698

Deposits from customers 5.9 988,549 1,008,056 957,684

Debt securities 5.h 191,482 155,359 150,822

Subordinated debt 5h 24,743 24,160 24,720
Remeasurement adjustment on interest-rate risk hedged portfolios (14,175) (20,201) 1,367
Current and deferred tax liabilities 5. 3,821 2,979 3,016
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 5j 143,673 185,010 146,520
Liabilities related to insurance contracts 6.d 218,043 209,772 240,118
Financial liabilities related to insurance activities 6.c 18,239 18,858 20,041
Provisions for contingencies and charges 5.n 10,518 10,040 10,187
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 9e - 77,002 74,366
TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,462,632 2,537,738 2,512,189
EQUITY

Share capital, additional paid-in capital and retained earnings 115,809 115,008 107,938

Net income for the period attributable to shareholders 10,975 9,848 9,488
Total capital, retained earnings and net income for the period attributable to 126,784 124,856 117,426
shareholders
Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity (3,042) (3,619) (1,021)
Shareholders' equity 123,742 121,237 116,405
Minority interests 9.b 5,125 4,773 4,672
TOTAL EQUITY 128,867 126,010 121,077
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 2,591,499 2,663,748 2,633,266
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2023

Year to 31 Dec. 2022

Year to 31 Dec. 2023 restated according to

In millions of euros IFRS17 and 9
Pre-tax income from continuing activities 11,725 13,214
Pre-tax income from discontinued activities 3,658 823
Non-monetary items included in pre-tax net income and other adjustments 8,495 21,838
Net depreciation/amortisation expense on property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 6,245 6,465
Impairment of goodwill and other non-current assets (32) 91
Net addition to provisions 3,646 3,193
Variation of assets/liabilities related to insurance contracts (6,240) (837)
Share of eamings of equity-method entities (593) (655)
Net income (expense) from investing activities (3,600) 265
Net expense (income) from financing activities 506 (1,192)
Other movements 8,563 14,508
Net decrease related to assets and liabilities generated by operating activities (58,119) (88,712)
Net decrease related to transactions with customers and credit institutions (7,751) (46,438)
Net decrease related to transactions involving other financial assets and liabilities (32,712) (30,212)
Net decrease related to transactions involving non-financial assets and liabilities (14,297) (10,063)
Taxes paid (3,359) (1,999)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GENERATED BY OPERATING ACTIVITIES (34,241) (52,837)
Net increase related to acquisitions and disposals of consolidated entities 9,520 366
Net decrease related to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets (2,216) (2,529)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RELATED TO INVESTING

7,304 (2,163)
ACTIVITIES
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents related to transactions with shareholders (8,698) (2,578)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents generated by other financing activities 4,022 11,828
NET DECREASE (INCREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RELATED TO FINANCING

(4,676) 9,250
ACTIVITIES
EFFECT OF MOVEMENT IN EXCHANGE RATES ON CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (3,506) 1,030
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (35,119) (44,720)
of which net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents from discontinued activities 9,909 (11,935)
Balance of cash and cash equivalent accounts at the start of the period 317,698 362,418
Cash and amounts due from central banks 318,581 347,901
Due to central banks (3,054) (1,244)
On demand deposits with credit institutions 11,927 10,156
On demand loans from credit institutions 59 (12,538) (9,105)
Deduction of receivables and accrued interest on cash and cash equivalents 163 156
Cash and cash equivalent accounts classified as "Assets held for sale" 2,619 14,554
Balance of cash and cash equivalent accounts at the end of the period 282,579 317,698
Cash and amounts due from central banks 288,279 318,581
Due to central banks (3,374) (3,054)
On demand deposits with credit institutions 8,352 11,927
On demand loans from credit institutions 59 (10,770) (12,538)
Deduction of receivables and accrued interest on cash and cash equivalents 92 163
Cash and cash equivalent accounts classified as "Assets held for sale" - 2,619
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (35,119) (44,720)
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity that
will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Capital and retained earnings

Own-credit
valuation Remeasurement
adjustment of gains (losses)
debt securities | related to post-

Financial assets

Share capital | Undated Super Non- designated as at

and additional | Subordinated | distributed Bl e

paid-in-capital Notes reserves AT .through designated as at |  employment L
L] fair value through |  benefit plans

In millions of euros profit or loss

Balance at 31 December 2021 26,347 9,207 82,110 117,664 840 (267) 549 (125) 997
Impacts of IAS 29 1st application in Tiirkiye (39) (39) -
Impacts of the transition to IFRS 17 (note 2) (2,619) (2,619) -
Impacts of the transition to IFRS 9 (note 2) 2,420 2,420 258 258
Balance at 1 January 2022 26,347 9,207 81,872 117,426 1,098 (267) 549 (125) 1,255
Appropriation of net income for 2021 (4,527) (4,527) -
Increases in capital and issues 5,024 (4) 5,020 -
Reduction or redemption of capital (2,430) (123) (2,553) -
Movements in own equity instruments (157) (1) (151) (309) -
Remuneration on undated super subordinated notes (374) (374) -

Impact of internal transactions on minority shareholders

(note 9.b) ! [ :

Movements in consolidation scope impacting minority
shareholders (note 9.b)

Acquisitions of additional interests or partial sales of

interests (note 9.b)

Change in commitments to repurchase minority ) @
shareholders' interests

Other movements 4 4 ~
Realised gains or losses reclassified to retained earnings 322 322 (326) 3 1 (322)
Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in :

equity (187) 383 (10) 6 192
Net income for 2022 9,848 9,848 -
Balance at 31 December 2022 26,190 11,800 86,866 124,856 585 119 540 (119) 1,125
Appropriation of net income for 2022 (4,744) (4,744) o
Increases in capital and issues 1,670 2) 1,668 -
Reduction or redemption of capital (4,983) (17) (5,000) -
Movements in own equity instruments 5) 2 (218) (221) -
Share-based payment plans (8) ®) -
Remuneration on undated super subordinated notes (654) (654) -
Impact of internal transactions on minority shareholders 1) 1) :
(note 9.b)

Movements in consolidation scope impacting minority ) :
shareholders (note 9.b)

Acquisitions of additional interests or partial sales of

. 1 1 -
interests (note 9.b)

Change in commitments to repurchase minority 9 9 B
shareholders' interests

Other movements (4) 4) -
Realised gains or losses reclassified to retained earnings (73) (73) (34) (8) (4) 119 73
Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in :

equity 304 35 (105) 234
Net income for 2023 10,975 10,975 -
Balance at 31 December 2023 21,202 13,472 92,110 126,784 855 146 431 - 1,432
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BETWEEN 1 JANUARY 2022 AND 31 DECEMBER 2023

Changes in assets and liabilities recognised directly in equity that may be reclassified to profit or

loss
Total Minority
S P Derivatives shareholders'] interests Total equity
Exchange Fmanmal e TSI used for Discontinued equity (note 9.b)
differences falrvalue_through _and contrac!s_qf hedging activities
equity insurance activities DUMOSES

(4,335) 122 1,811 1,019 608 (775) 117,886 4,621 122,507
165 165 126 48 174
533 533 (2,086) 12 (2,074)
(2,199) (2,199) 479 9) 470
(4,170) 122 145 1,019 608 (2,276) 116,405 4,672 121,077
(4,527) (133) (4,660)
5,020 34 5,054
(2,553) (2,553)
(309) (309)
(374) (374)
1 2 3
(136) (136)
2 (157) (159)
4 2) 2
980 (633) (1,607) (768) (440) (2.468) (2.276) 923 (2.183)
9,848 400 10,248
(3,190) (511) (1,462) 251 168 (4,744) 121,237 4,773 126,010
(4,744) (179) (4,923)
1,668 316 1,984
(5,000) (5,000)
(221) (221)
@) 1 (7)
(654) ) (657)

(21) 21
(90) (90)
1 (12) (11
9 (225) (216)
) )
(239) 153 490 34 (168) 270 504 92 596
10,975 431 11,406
(3,429) (358) (972) 285 - (4,474) 123,742 5,125 128,867
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
APPLIED BY THE GROUP

1.a APPLICABLE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

The consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas Group have been prepared in accordance with
international accounting standards (International Financial Reporting Standards — IFRS), as adopted for use in the
European Union'. Accordingly, certain provisions of IAS 39 on hedge accounting have been excluded.

Information on the nature and extent of risks relating to financial instruments as required by IFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures” and to insurance contracts as required by IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”, along with
information on regulatory capital required by IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements” will be presented in
chapter 5 of the Universal registration document. This information is an integral part of the notes to the
consolidated financial statements of the BNP Paribas Group at 31 December 2023. Section 4 of chapter 5,
paragraph Exposures, provisions and cost of risk provides, in particular, IFRS 7 information on credit risk
exposures and related impairment broken down according to whether the underlying loans are performing or
non-performing, by geographic area and by industry.

e Since 1 January 2023, BNP Paribas Group’s insurance entities have applied IFRS 17 “Insurance Contracts”
published in May 2017, amended in June 2020 and adopted by the European Union in November 2021,
including the exemption provided for in Article 2 of regulation 2021/2036 regarding annual cohorts. The
transition date for IFRS 17 is 1 January 2022 for the purposes of the opening balance sheet of the comparative
period required by the standard.

As the Group deferred the application of IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” for its insurance entities until the entry
into force of IFRS 17, therefore they apply this standard from 1 January 2023.

In addition, the entry into force of IFRS 17 brings into effect various amendments to other standards, including
IAS 1 for presentation, IAS 16 and IAS 40 for the valuation and presentation of real estate assets, IAS 28 for
exemptions from the equity method and IAS 32 and IFRS 9 for own equity instruments and other securities
issued by the Group.

Finally, the amendment to IFRS 17 “Initial application of IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 — Comparative information”
published by the IASB in December 2021 and adopted by the European Union on 9 September 2022 allows
insurance companies applying IFRS 9 and IFRS 17 for the first time simultaneously to present 2022
comparative data as if IFRS 9 was already applied, using an “overlay” approach. The Group applied this
optional approach for all financial instruments, including those derecognised in 2022, for both classification and
measurement purposes.

- Transition from IFRS 4 to IFRS 17

IFRS 17 applies retroactively to all contracts outstanding at the transition date, i.e. 1 January 2022 due to the
mandatory comparative period. Three transition methods may be used: a full retrospective approach and, if this
cannot be implemented, a modified retrospective approach or an approach based on the fair value of the
contracts at the transition date.

" The full set of standards adopted for use in the European Union can be found on the website of the European Commission at:
https://ec.europa.eu/info/business-economy-euro/company-reporting-and-auditing/company-reporting_en
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The majority of entities controlled by the Group have applied the modified retrospective approach and, to a
lesser extent, for some portfolios, an approach based on the fair value of contracts at the transition date.

As a matter of fact, not all the necessary information was available or was not sufficiently granular, in particular
due to systems migration and data retention requirements, to apply a full retrospective approach. Moreover, the
full retrospective approach would have required reconstituting management’'s assumptions and intentions in
previous periods.

The objective of the modified retrospective approach is to achieve a result that is as close as possible to the
result that would have been obtained through the retrospective application of the standard, based on
reasonable and supportable information available without undue costs or effort.

Thus, the entities concerned applied the modified retrospective approach to most portfolios of existing
contracts, whether in Protection or Life/Savings, according to the principles below.

For Protection contracts valued according to the general model, the principle of the modified retrospective
approach consists in reconstituting liabilities at the initial recognition date based on their valuation at the
transition date, by retroactively reconstituting movements between the two dates with simplifications:

- cash flows at inception are estimated by adding the actual cash flows recorded between the two dates,
to the amount at the transition date;

- the original discount rate can be determined with interest rate curves simulating those at the date of
first recognition;

- the changes in the adjustment for non-financial risk between the inception date and the transition date
can be estimated based on release patterns observed on similar contracts.

For liabilities for remaining coverage that are reconstituted in this way at the inception date, the contractual
service margin at inception (if any), less any acquisition costs paid in the interim period, is amortised based on
the services provided in the period prior to the transition, in order to determine the amount of the remaining
contractual service margin at that date, less any remaining acquisition costs.

When contracts are grouped into a single group on the transition date, the discount rate on that date or an
average rate can be used.

The effect of the change in the discount rate on liabilities is recognised in the profit and loss account, unless
the option to split financial changes between profit and loss and shareholders’ equity is retained. Choosing this
option requires the amount carried in shareholders’ equity at the transition date to be recalculated from the
inception rate for the liability for remaining coverage and from the rate at the date of claims occurrence for the
liability for incurred claims. Where such reconstitution is not possible, the amount shown in equity is zero.

For the purposes of this reconstitution, the simplifications mainly covered the following:

- reconstitution of the annual cohorts or consolidation into a single group of contracts at the transition
date according to available data;

- the reconstitution of fulfilment cash flows and unamortised acquisition costs;
- the release of the risk adjustment between the date of issuance of the contracts and the transition date;

- discount rates (the rate at inception in the case of a reconstitution by annual cohorts or an average rate
in the case of a consolidation into a single group of contracts at the transition date);

- the amount transferred to changes in equity that may be reclassified to profit or loss at the transition
date in respect of changes in the discount rate, that was reconstituted based on historical rates or reset
to zero if such a reconstitution is not achievable.

For Protection contracts valued according to the simplified method, the reserves for remaining coverage
were generally determined at transition from the previous reserves for unearned premiums, net of acquisition
costs. The incurred claims reserves arising from these contracts consist of expected cash flows and risk
adjustments for non-financial risks at the transition date. When cash flows were discounted and for portfolios
for which the disaggregation option of financial changes between profit and loss account and shareholders’
equity has been chosen, the amount carried in changes in equity that may be reclassified to profit or loss at the
transition date in relation to changes in the discount rate was reconstituted based on the historical rates or set
to zero if such a reconstitution was not achievable.
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For Life/Savings contracts valued under the variable fee approach, the modified retrospective approach
also consists in reconstituting the liability at the inception date, starting from the liability at the transition date.
However, for these contracts, the standard provides that the contractual services margin at the transition date
is determined using the following approach:

- the realisable value of the underlying assets at the transition date is first diminished by the fulfilment
cash flows (discounted cash flows and risk adjustment) at that date;

- to this amount are added the income received from the policyholders and changes in the risk
adjustment, less the acquisition cashflows paid during the interim period;

- the contractual service margin net of the acquisition costs initially reconstituted is then amortised until
the transition date to reflect the services provided to that date, as well as the remaining acquisition
costs.

The main simplifications in implementing this approach were as follows:

- existing contracts were grouped according to the planned post-transition segmentation, without a
breakdown in annual cohorts, in line with the election of the exemption provided for by the European
regulation;

- for general funds common to participating and non-participating contracts and to equity, the underlying
assets were defined on the basis of the breakdown used to calculate policyholders’ participation;

- the contractual services margin at the transition date was reconstituted:

O based on the fair value of the underlying assets less fulfilment cash flows at the transition date;

o by adding the historical margins which were rolled over up to the transition date, using the
same approach as that to be used after the transition, taking into account the “over-
performance” on assets, and;

o deducting any remaining acquisition costs;

- the amount recorded in changes in equity that may be reclassified to profit or loss at the transition date
as an adjustment for accounting mismatches was determined using the fair value of the underlying
assets recognised in equity at the transition date.

Finally, under the fair value method, the contractual service margin at the transition date was determined as the
difference at the transition date between the realisable value determined without taking into account the
amount payable on demand and the fulfilment cash flows. This approach was used on some non-material
portfolios when the modified retrospective approach could not be implemented. For these portfolios, the fair
value was estimated based on a Solvency 2 valuation and, in the particular case of a recent business
combination dating from 2018, based on the amount allocated to the contracts during the acquisition price
allocation process.

- Transition from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

Financial assets and liabilities of insurance entities are managed by portfolios corresponding either to the
insurance liabilities they back up or to the own funds. The business models were therefore determined
according to these portfolios at the transition date to IFRS 9 (see. note 2 IFRS 17 and IFRS 9 First time
application impacts).

- Amendments to other standards related to IFRS 17

The Group also applied the changes in IAS 40 and IAS 16 resulting from IFRS 17, leading to the measurement
of property held as underlying assets of direct participating contracts at fair value through profit or loss. It also
applied the amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 9, making it possible to maintain on the balance sheet financial
assets issued by the Group that are held as assets underlying direct participating contracts and are measured
at fair value through profit or loss.

Business combinations (including goodwill) prior to the transition date were not modified except for the
cancellation of specific intangible assets under IFRS 4.

e In relation to the IBOR and Eonia rates reform, at the end of 2018 the Group launched a global transition
programme, involving all business lines and functions. The aim of the programme was to manage and
implement the transition from the old benchmark interest rates to the new ones in major jurisdictions and
currencies (euro, pound sterling, US dollar, Swiss franc and Japanese yen), while reducing the risks associated
with this transition and meeting the deadlines set by the competent authorities. The Group contributed to
market-wide workshops with central banks and financial regulators.

-12 - Consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2023



E BNP PARIBAS The bank for a changing world

In Europe, the Eonia-€STR transition, which was purely technical given the fixed link between these two
indices, was finalised at the end of December 2021 while the maintenance of Euribor on a sine die basis was
confirmed.

Publication of JPY synthetic Libor was discontinued at the end of 2022. Regarding synthetic GBP Libor, the
publication of the 1-month and 6-month settings ceased in March 2023, thereby only leaving the 3-month
setting, which will subsist until March 2024.

In the United States, the decision was taken to continue publishing the USD Libor until mid-2023, and a
legislative solution was passed at the federal level in the first quarter of 2022 to address legacy US-law
governed contracts. In early April 2023, the FCA (Financial Conduct Authority) announced its decision to
compel ICE BA (as benchmark administrator) to continue publication of 1-month, 3-month and 6-month USD
Libor after 30 June 2023 and until 30 September 2024, using a synthetic methodology.

Through the implementation and execution of a detailed transition plan, the Group finalised its migration to the
new reference rates.

In September 2019, the IASB published “Phase 1” amendments to IAS 39 and IFRS 7, amending the hedge
accounting requirements so that hedges affected by the benchmark interest rate reform could continue despite
the uncertainty during the transition of the hedged items or hedging instruments to the reformed benchmark
rates. These amendments, endorsed by the European Commission on 15 January 2020, have been applied by
the Group since 31 December 2019.

In August 2020, the IASB published “Phase 2” amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16
introducing several changes applicable during the effective transition to the new benchmark interest rates.
These amendments allow for changes in the contractual cash flows of financial instruments resulting from the
IBOR rates reform to be treated as a simple reset of their variable interest rate, provided, however, that such
changes are made on an economically equivalent basis. They also allow the continuation of hedging
relationships, subject to amendments to their documentation to reflect changes in hedged instruments, hedging
instruments, hedged risk, and/or the method for measuring effectiveness during the transition to the new
benchmark rates.

These amendments, adopted by the European Commission in December 2020, have been applied by the
Group since 31 December 2020 to maintain its existing hedging relationships which have been modified as a
result of the transition to the new RFRs.

e Further to the Pillar Il recommendations of the Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development
(OECD) in relation to the international tax reform, the European Union adopted on 14 December 2022 the
2022/2523 directive instituting a minimum corporate income tax for international groups, effective
1 January 2024.

To clarify the directive’s potential impacts, the IASB issued on 23 May 2023 a series of amendments to IAS 12
“Income Taxes”, which were adopted by the European Union on 8 November 2023. In accordance with the
provisions of these amendments, the Group applies the mandatory and temporary exception not to recognise
deferred taxes associated with this additional taxation.

Based on the available information, the impact of the Pillar Il reform are expected to be non-material for the
Group once adopted.

e In France, changes resulting from the pension reform enacted on 14 April 2023 constitute a change in
post-employment benefits, based on IAS 19 § 104. The non-material impact of this change was recorded in the
profit and loss for the period.

The introduction of other standards, amendments and interpretations that are mandatory as from 1 January 2023,
in particular the amendments to IAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”, IAS 8 “Changes in accounting
estimates and errors” and “IAS 12 Income Tax”, had no effect on the Group’s financial statements at 31 December
2023.

The Group did not early adopt any of the new standards, amendments, and interpretations adopted by the
European Union, when the application in 2023 was optional.
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1.b CONSOLIDATION

1.b.1 SCOPE OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements of BNP Paribas include entities that are controlled by the Group, jointly
controlled, and under significant influence, with the exception of those entities whose consolidation is regarded as
immaterial to the Group. Companies that hold shares in consolidated companies are also consolidated.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains effective control. Entities under temporary
control are included in the consolidated financial statements until the date of disposal.

1.b.2 CONSOLIDATION METHODS

Exclusive control

Controlled enterprises are fully consolidated. The Group controls a subsidiary when it is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the entity.

For entities governed by voting rights, the Group generally controls the entity if it holds, directly or indirectly, the
majority of the voting rights (and if there are no contractual provisions that alter the power of these voting rights) or
if the power to direct the relevant activities of the entity is conferred on it by contractual agreements.

Structured entities are entities established so that they are not governed by voting rights, for instance when those
voting rights relate to administrative tasks only, whereas the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual
arrangements. They often have the following features or attributes: restricted activities, a narrow and well-defined
objective and insufficient equity to permit them to finance their activities without subordinated financial support.

For these entities, the analysis of control shall consider the purpose and design of the entity, the risks to which the
entity is designed to be exposed and to what extent the Group absorbs the related variability. The assessment of
control shall consider all facts and circumstances able to determine the Group's practical ability to make decisions
that could significantly affect its returns, even if such decisions are contingent on uncertain future events or
circumstances.

In assessing whether it has power, the Group considers only substantive rights which it holds or which are held by
third parties. For a right to be substantive, the holder must have the practical ability to exercise that right when
decisions about the relevant activities of the entity need to be made.

Control is reassessed if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the elements of
control.

Where the Group contractually holds the decision-making power, for instance where the Group acts as fund
manager, it shall determine whether it is acting as agent or principal. Indeed, when associated with a certain level
of exposure to the variability of returns, this decision-making power may indicate that the Group is acting on its own
account and that it thus has control over those entities.

Minority interests are presented separately in the consolidated profit and loss account and balance sheet within
consolidated equity. The calculation of minority interests takes into account the outstanding cumulative preferred
shares classified as equity instruments issued by subsidiaries, when such shares are held outside the Group.

As regards fully consolidated funds, units held by third-party investors are recognised as debts at fair value through
profit or loss, inasmuch as they are redeemable at fair value at the subscriber’s initiative.

For transactions resulting in a loss of control, any equity interest retained by the Group is remeasured at its fair
value through profit or loss.
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Joint control

Where the Group carries out an activity with one or more partners, sharing control by virtue of a contractual
agreement which requires unanimous consent on relevant activities (those that significantly affect the entity’s
returns), the Group exercises joint control over the activity. Where the jointly controlled activity is structured through
a separate vehicle in which the partners have rights to the net assets, this joint venture is accounted for using the
equity method. Where the jointly controlled activity is not structured through a separate vehicle or where the
partners have rights to the assets and obligations for the liabilities of the jointly controlled activity, the Group
accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses in accordance with the applicable IFRS.

Significant influence

Companies over which the Group exercises significant influence or associates are accounted for by the equity
method. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of a
company without exercising control. Significant influence is presumed to exist when the Group holds, directly or
indirectly, 20% or more of the voting rights of a company. Interests of less than 20% can be included in the
consolidation scope if the Group effectively exercises significant influence. This is the case for example for entities
developed in partnership with other associates, where the BNP Paribas Group participates in strategic decisions of
the enterprise through representation on the Board of directors or equivalent governing body, or exercises
influence over the enterprise’s operational management by supplying management systems or senior managers, or
provides technical assistance to support the enterprise’s development.

Changes in the net assets of associates (companies accounted for under the equity method) are recognised on the
assets side of the balance sheet under “Investments in equity-method entities” and in the relevant component of
shareholders’ equity. Goodwill recorded on associates is also included under “Equity-method investments”.

Whenever there is an indication of impairment, the carrying amount of the investment consolidated under the equity
method (including goodwill) is subjected to an impairment test, by comparing its recoverable value (the higher of
value-in-use and market value less costs to sell) to its carrying amount. Where appropriate, impairment is
recognised under "Share of earnings of equity-method entities" in the consolidated income statement and can be
reversed at a later date.

If the Group’s share of losses of an equity-method entity equals or exceeds the carrying amount of its investment in
this entity, the Group discontinues including its share of further losses. The investment is reported at nil value.
Additional losses of the equity-method entity are provided for only to the extent that the Group has contracted a
legal or constructive obligation or has made payments on behalf of this entity.

Where the Group holds an interest in an associate, directly or indirectly through an entity that is a venture capital
organisation, a mutual fund, an open-ended investment company or similar entity such as an investment-related
insurance fund, it may elect to measure that interest at fair value through profit or loss.

Realised gains and losses on investments in consolidated undertakings are recognised in the profit and loss
account under “Net gain on non-current assets”.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared using uniform accounting policies for similar transactions and
other events occurring in similar circumstances.
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1.b.3 CONSOLIDATION RULES

) Elimination of intragroup balances and transactions

Intragroup balances arising from transactions between consolidated enterprises, and the transactions themselves
(including income, expenses and dividends), are eliminated. Profits and losses arising from intragroup sales of
assets are eliminated, except where there is an indication that the asset sold is impaired. Unrealised gains and
losses included in the value of financial instruments at fair value through equity are maintained in the consolidated
financial statements.

By way of exception, amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 9 allow intra-group assets to be retained in the balance
sheet if they are held as underlying components of direct participating contracts. These assets are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. These are:

- own shares by amendment to IAS 32;
- financial liabilities issued by the entity in amendment to IFRS 9.

These provisions are applied by the Group’s insurance entities that issue direct participating contracts, the
underlying elements of which include securities issued by the Group either directly or through consolidated
investment entities.

) Translation of accounts expressed in foreign currencies

The consolidated financial statements of BNP Paribas are prepared in euros.

The financial statements of enterprises whose functional currency is not the euro are translated using the closing
rate method. Under this method, all assets and liabilities, both monetary and non-monetary, are translated using
the spot exchange rate at the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average rate for
the period.

Financial statements of the Group’s subsidiaries located in hyperinflationary economies, previously adjusted for
inflation by applying a general price index, are translated using the closing rate. This rate applies to the translation
of assets and liabilities as well as income and expenses.

Differences arising from the translation of balance sheet items and profit and loss items are recorded in
shareholders’ equity under “Exchange differences”, and in “Minority interests” for the portion attributable to outside
investors. Under the optional treatment permitted by IFRS 1, the Group has reset to zero all translation differences,
by booking all cumulative translation differences attributable to shareholders and to minority interests in the
opening balance sheet at 1 January 2004 to retained earnings.

On liquidation or disposal of some or all of an interest held in a foreign enterprise located outside the eurozone,
leading to a change in the nature of the investment (loss of control, loss of significant influence or loss of joint
control without keeping a significant influence), the cumulative exchange difference at the date of liquidation or sale
is recognised in the profit and loss account.

Should the percentage of interest change without leading to a modification in the nature of the investment, the
exchange difference is reallocated between the portion attributable to shareholders and that attributable to minority
interests if the entity is fully consolidated; if the entity is consolidated under the equity method, it is recorded in
profit or loss for the portion related to the interest sold.

1.b.4 BUSINESS COMBINATION AND MEASUREMENT OF GOODWILL

° Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the purchase method.

Under this method, the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities assumed are measured at fair value at the
acquisition date except for non-current assets classified as assets held for sale which are accounted for at fair
value less costs to sell.
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The acquiree’s contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated balance sheet unless they represent a
present obligation on the acquisition date and their fair value can be measured reliably.

The cost of a business combination is the fair value, at the date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or
assumed, and equity instruments issued to obtain control of the acquiree. Costs directly attributable to the business
combination are treated as a separate transaction and recognised through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration is included in the cost, as soon as control is obtained, at fair value on the date when
control was acquired. Subsequent changes in the value of any contingent consideration recognised as a financial
liability are recognised through profit or loss.

The Group may recognise any adjustments to the provisional accounting within 12 months of the acquisition date.

Goodwill represents the difference between the cost of the combination and the acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the acquiree at the acquisition date. Positive goodwill is recognised
in the acquirer’s balance sheet, while negative goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss, on the
acquisition date. Minority interests are measured at their share of the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets
and liabilities. However, for each business combination, the Group can elect to measure minority interests at fair
value, in which case a proportion of goodwill is allocated to them. To date, the Group has never used this latter
option.

Goodwill is recognised in the functional currency of the acquiree and translated at the closing exchange rate.

On the acquisition date, any previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured at its fair value through
profit or loss. In the case of a step acquisition, the goodwill is therefore determined by reference to the acquisition-
date fair value.

Since the revised IFRS 3 has been applied prospectively, business combinations completed prior to
1 January 2010 were not restated for the effects of changes to IFRS 3.

As permitted under IFRS 1, business combinations that took place before 1 January 2004 and were recorded in
accordance with the previously applicable accounting standards (French GAAP), had not been restated in
accordance with the principles of IFRS 3.

Specificities relating to insurance contracts acquired through business combinations are set out in note 1.9.2 in the
paragraph “recognition and derecognition”.

o Measurement of goodwill
The BNP Paribas Group tests goodwill for impairment on a regular basis.

- Cash-generating units

The BNP Paribas Group has split all its activities into cash-generating units? representing major business lines.
This split is consistent with the Group’s organisational structure and management methods, and reflects the
independence of each unit in terms of results and management approach. It is reviewed on a regular basis in order
to take account of events likely to affect the composition of cash-generating units, such as acquisitions, disposals
and major reorganisations.

- Testing cash-generating units for impairment

Goodwill allocated to cash-generating units is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication
that a unit may be impaired, by comparing the carrying amount of the unit with its recoverable amount. If the
recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an irreversible impairment loss is recognised, and the
goodwill is written down by the excess of the carrying amount of the unit over its recoverable amount.

® As defined by IAS 36.
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- Recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit

The recoverable amount of a cash-generating unit is the higher of the fair value of the unit less costs to sell, and its
value in use.

Fair value is the price that would be obtained from selling the unit at the market conditions prevailing at the date of
measurement, as determined mainly by reference to actual prices of recent transactions involving similar entities or
on the basis of stock market multiples for comparable companies.

Value in use is based on an estimate of the future cash flows to be generated by the cash-generating unit, derived
from the annual forecasts prepared by the unit's management and approved by Group Executive Management,
and from analyses of changes in the relative positioning of the unit’'s activities on their market. These cash flows
are discounted at a rate that reflects the return that investors would require from an investment in the business
sector and region involved.

1.c  TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS

The methods used to account for assets and liabilities relating to foreign currency transactions entered into by the
Group, and to measure the foreign exchange risk arising on such transactions, depend on whether the asset or
liability in question is classified as a monetary or a non-monetary item.

e Monetary assets and liabilities® expressed in foreign currencies

Monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the
relevant Group entity at the closing rate. Foreign exchange differences are recognised in the profit and loss
account, except for those arising from financial instruments designated as a cash flow hedge or a net foreign
investment hedge, which are recognised in shareholders’ equity.

e Non-monetary assets and liabilities expressed in foreign currencies

Non-monetary assets may be measured either at historical cost or at fair value. Non-monetary assets expressed in
foreign currencies are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction (i.e. date of initial
recognition of the non-monetary asset) if they are measured at historical cost, and at the closing rate if they are
measured at fair value.

Foreign exchange differences relating to non-monetary assets denominated in foreign currencies and recognised
at fair value (equity instruments) are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is classified in “Financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss” and in equity when the asset is classified under “Financial assets at fair value
through equity”.

8 Monetary assets and liabilities are assets and liabilities to be received or paid in fixed or determinable amounts of cash.
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1.d  FINANCIAL INFORMATION IN HYPERINFLATIONARY ECONOMIES

The Group applies IAS 29 to the presentation of the accounts of its consolidated subsidiaries located in countries
whose economies are in hyperinflation.

IAS 29 presents a number of quantitative and qualitative criteria to assess whether an economy is
hyperinflationary, including a cumulative, three-year inflation rate approaching or exceeding 100%.

All non-monetary assets and liabilities of subsidiaries in hyperinflationary countries, including equity and each line
of the income statement has been restated on the basis of changes in the Consumer Price Index (CPI). This
restatement between 1 January and the closing date resulted in the recognition of a gain or loss in its net monetary
situation, recognised under “Net gain on non-current assets”. Financial statements of these subsidiaries are
translated into euros at the closing rate.

In accordance with the provisions of the IFRIC’s decision of March 2020 on classifying the effects of indexation and
translation of accounts of subsidiaries in hyperinflationary economies, the Groupe has opted to present these
effects (including the net book value effect at the date of the initial application of IAS 29) within changes in assets
and liabilities recognised directly through equity related to exchange differences.

Since 1 January 2022, the Group has applied IAS 29 to the presentation of the accounts of its consolidated
subsidiaries located in Turkiye.

1.  NET INTEREST INCOME, COMMISSIONS AND INCOME FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES

1.e1 NET INTEREST INCOME

Income and expenses relating to debt instruments measured at amortised cost and at fair value through
shareholders' equity are recognised in the income statement using the effective interest rate method.

The effective interest rate is the rate that ensures the discounted value of estimated future cash flows through the
expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, is equal to the carrying amount of
the asset or liability in the balance sheet. The effective interest rate measurement takes into account all fees
received or paid that are an integral part of the effective interest rate of the contract, transaction costs, and
premiums and discounts.

Commissions considered as an additional component of interest are included in the effective interest rate and are
recognised in the profit and loss account in “Net interest income”. This category includes notably commissions on
financing commitments when it is considered that the setting up of a loan is more likely than unlikely. Commissions
received in respect of financing commitments are deferred until they are drawn and then included in the effective
interest rate calculation and amortised over the life of the loan. Syndication commissions are also included in this
category for the portion of the commission equivalent to the remuneration of other syndication participants.

1.e.2 COMMISSIONS AND INCOME FROM OTHER ACTIVITIES

Commissions received with regards to banking and similar services provided (except for those that are integral part
of the effective interest rate), revenues from property development and revenues from services provided in
connection with lease contracts fall within the scope of IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”.

This standard defines a single model for recognising revenue based on five-step principles. These five steps
enable to identify the distinct performance obligations included in the contracts and allocate the transaction price
among them. The income related to those performance obligations is recognised as revenue when the latter are
satisfied, namely when the control of the promised goods or services has been transferred.
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The price of a service may contain a variable component. Variable amounts may be recognised in the income
statement only if it is highly probable that the amounts recorded will not result in a significant downward
adjustment.

Commission

The Group records commission income and expense in profit or loss either:

- over time as the service is rendered when the client receives continuous service. These include, for example,
certain commissions on transactions with customers when services are rendered on a continuous basis,
commissions on financing commitments that are not included in the interest margin, because the probability that
they give rise to the drawing up of a loan is low, commissions on financial collateral, clearing commissions on
financial instruments, commissions related to trust and similar activities, securities custody fees, efc.

Commissions received under financial guarantee commitments are deemed to represent the initial fair value of
the commitment. The resulting liability is subsequently amortised over the term of the commitment, in
Commission income; or

- at a point in time when the service is rendered, in other cases. These include, for example, distribution fees
received, loan syndication fees remunerating the arrangement service, advisory fees, etc.

Income from other activities

Income from property development as well as income from services provided in connection with lease contracts is
recorded under “Income from other activities” in the income statement.

As regards property development income, the Group records it in profit or loss:

- over time, when the performance obligation creates or enhances an asset on which the customer obtains
control as it is created or enhanced (e.g. work in progress controlled by the client on the land in which the asset
is located, etfc.), or where the service performed does not create an asset that the entity could otherwise use
and gives it enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date. This is the case for contracts such
as VEFA (sale in the future state of completion) in France.

- at completion in other cases.

Regarding income from services provided in connection with lease contracts, the Group records them in profit or
loss as the service is rendered, i.e. in proportion to the costs incurred for maintenance contracts.

1.f FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Financial assets are classified at amortised cost, at fair value through shareholders' equity or at fair value through
profit or loss depending on the business model and the contractual features of the instruments at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are classified at amortised cost or at fair value through profit or loss at initial recognition.

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Purchases and sales of financial assets made within a period established
by the regulations or by a convention in the relevant marketplace are recognised in the balance sheet at the
settlement date.

1.f1 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT AMORTISED COST

Financial assets are classified at amortised cost if the following two criteria are met: the business model objective is
to hold the instrument in order to collect the contractual cash flows and the cash flows consist solely of payments
relating to principal and interest on the principal.
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Business model criterion

Financial assets are managed within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
cash flows through the collection of contractual payments over the life of the instrument.

The realisation of disposals close to the maturity of the instrument and for an amount close to the remaining
contractual cash-flows, or due to an increase in the counterparty's credit risk is consistent with a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows (“collect”). Sales imposed by regulatory requirements or to
manage the concentration of credit risk (without an increase in the asset’s credit risk) are also consistent with this
business model when they are infrequent or insignificant in value.

Cash flow criterion

The cash flow criterion is satisfied if the contractual terms of the debt instrument give rise, on specified dates, to
cash flows that are solely repayments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

The criterion is not met in the event of a contractual characteristic that exposes the holder to risks or to the volatility
of contractual cash flows that are inconsistent with those of a non-structured or “basic lending” arrangement. It is
also not satisfied in the event of leverage that increases the variability of the contractual cash flows.

Interest consists of consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk, and for the remuneration of other
risks (e.g. liquidity risk), costs (e.g. administration fees), and a profit margin consistent with that of a basic lending
arrangement. The existence of negative interest does not call into question the cash flow criterion.

The time value of money is the component of interest - usually referred to as the “rate” component - which provides
consideration for only the passage of time. The relationship between the interest rate and the passage of time must
not be modified by specific characteristics that could call into question the respect of the cash flow criterion.

Thus, when the variable interest rate of the financial asset is periodically reset at a frequency that does not match
the duration for which the interest rate is established, the time value of money may be considered as modified and,
depending on the significance of that modification, the cash flow criterion may not be met. Some financial assets
held by the Group present a mismatch between the interest rate reset frequency and the maturity of the index, or
interest rates indexed to an average of benchmark rate. The Group has developed a consistent methodology for
analysing this alteration of the time value of money.

Regulated rates meet the cash flow criterion when they provide consideration that is broadly consistent with the
passage of time and does not expose to risks or volatility in the contractual cash flows that would be inconsistent
with those of a basic lending arrangement (example: loans granted in the context of Livret A savings accounts).

Some contractual clauses may change the timing or the amount of cash flows. Early redemption options do not call
into question the cash flow criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents the principal amount
outstanding and the interest thereon, which may include reasonable compensation for the early termination of the
contract. For example, as regards loans to retail customers, the compensation limited to 6 months of interest or 3%
of the capital outstanding is considered reasonable. Actuarial penalties, corresponding to the discounted value of
the difference between the residual contractual cash-flows of the loan, and their reinvestment in a loan to a similar
counterparty or in the interbank market for a similar residual maturity are also considered as reasonable, even
when the compensation can be positive or negative (i.e. “symmetric” compensation). An option that permits the
issuer or the holder of a financial instrument to change the interest rate from floating to fixed rate does not breach
the cash flow criterion if the fixed rate is determined at origination, or if it represents the time value of money for the
residual maturity of the instrument at the date of exercise of the option. Clauses included in financing granted to
encourage the sustainable development of companies which adjust the interest margin depending on the
achievement of environmental, social or governance (ESG) objectives and disclosed in Chapter 7 of the Universal
registration document, do not call into question the cash flow criterion when such an adjustment is considered to be
minimal. Structured instruments indexed to ESG market indices do not meet the cash flow criterion.

In the particular case of financial assets contractually linked to payments received on a portfolio of underlying
assets and which include a priority order for payment of cash flows between investors (“tranches”), thereby creating
concentrations of credit risk, a specific analysis is carried out. The contractual characteristics of the tranche and
those of the underlying financial instrument portfolios must meet the cash flow criterion and the credit risk exposure
of the tranche must be equal to or lower than the exposure to credit risk of the underlying pool of financial
instruments.
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Certain loans may be “non-recourse”, either contractually, or in substance when they are granted to a special
purpose entity. That is in particular the case of numerous project financing or asset financing loans. The cash-flow
criterion is met as long as these loans do not represent a direct exposure on the assets acting as collateral. In
practice, the sole fact that the financial asset explicitly gives rise to cash flows that are consistent with payments of
principal and interest is not sufficient to conclude that the instrument meets the cash flow criterion. In that case, the
particular underlying assets to which there is limited recourse shall be analysed using the “look-through” approach.
If those assets do not themselves meet the cash flow criterion, the existing credit enhancement is assessed. The
following aspects are considered: structuring and sizing of the transaction, own funds level of the structure,
expected source of repayment, price volatility of the underlying assets. This analysis is applied to “non-recourse”
loans granted by the Group.

The “financial assets at amortised cost” category includes, in particular, loans granted by the Group, as well as
reverse repurchase agreements and securities held by the Group ALM Treasury in order to collect contractual
flows and meeting the cash flow criterion.

Recognition

On initial recognition, financial assets are recognised at fair value, including transaction costs directly attributable to
the transaction as well as commissions related to the origination of the loans.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost, including accrued interest and net of repayments of principal
and interest during the past period. These financial assets are also subject from their initial recognition, to the
measurement of a loss allowance for expected credit losses (note 1.f.5).

Interest is calculated using the effective interest method determined at inception of the contract.

1.f.2 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Debt instruments

Debt instruments are classified at fair value through shareholders’ equity if the following two criteria are met:

- business model criterion: Financial assets are held in a business model whose objective is achieved by both
holding the financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets (“collect
and sale”). The latter is not incidental but is an integral part of the business model.

- cash flow criterion: The principles are identical to those applicable to financial assets at amortised cost.

The securities held by the Group ALM Treasury in order to collect contractual flows or to be sold and meeting the
cash flow criterion are in particular classified in this category.

On initial recognition, financial assets are recognised at their fair value, including transaction costs directly
attributable to the transaction. They are subsequently measured at fair value and changes in fair value are
recognised, under a specific line of shareholders’ equity entitled “Changes in assets and liabilities recognised
directly in equity that may be reclassified to profit or loss”. These financial assets are also subject to the
measurement of a loss allowance for expected credit losses on the same approach as for debt instruments at
amortised cost. The counterparty of the related impact in cost of risk is recognised in the same specific line of
shareholders’ equity. On disposal, changes in fair value previously recognised in shareholders’ equity are
reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, interest is recognised in the income statement using the effective interest method determined at the
inception of the contract.
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Equity instruments

Investments in equity instruments such as shares are classified on option, and on a case-by-case basis, at fair
value through shareholders’ equity (under a specific line). On disposal of the shares, changes in fair value
previously recognised in equity are not recognised in profit or loss. Only dividends, if they represent remuneration
for the investment and not repayment of capital, are recognised in profit or loss. These instruments are not subject
to impairment.

Investments in mutual funds puttable to the issuer do not meet the definition of equity instruments. They do not
meet the cash flow criterion either, and thus are recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

1.£.3 FINANCING AND GUARANTEE COMMITMENTS

Financing and financial guarantee commitments that are not recognised at fair value through profit or loss are
presented in the note relating to financing and guarantee commitments. They are subject to the measurement of a
loss allowance for expected credit losses. These loss allowances are presented under “Provisions for
contingencies and charges”.

1.4 REGULATED SAVINGS AND LOAN CONTRACTS

Home savings accounts (Comptes Epargne-Logement — “CEL”) and home savings plans (Plans d’Epargne
Logement — “PEL”) are government-regulated retail products sold in France. They combine a savings phase and a
loan phase which are inseparable, with the loan phase contingent upon the savings phase.

These products contain two types of obligations for BNP Paribas: an obligation to pay interest on the savings for an
indefinite period, at a rate set by the government at the inception of the contract (in the case of PEL products) or at
a rate reset every six months using an indexation formula set by law (in the case of CEL products); and an
obligation to lend to the customer (at the customer’s option) an amount contingent upon the rights acquired during
the savings phase, at a rate set at the inception of the contract (in the case of PEL products) or at a rate contingent
upon the savings phase (in the case of CEL products).

The Group’s future obligations with respect to each generation (in the case of PEL products, a generation
comprises all products with the same interest rate at inception; in the case of CEL products, all such products
constitute a single generation) are measured by discounting potential future earnings from at-risk outstandings for
that generation.

At-risk outstandings are estimated on the basis of a historical analysis of customer behaviour, and are equivalent
to:

- for the loan phase: statistically probable loans outstanding and actual loans outstanding;

- for the savings phase: the difference between statistically probable outstandings and minimum expected
outstandings, with minimum expected outstandings being deemed equivalent to unconditional term deposits.

Earnings for future periods from the savings phase are estimated as the difference between the reinvestment rate
and the fixed savings interest rate on at-risk savings outstanding for the period in question. Earnings for future
periods from the loan phase are estimated as the difference between the refinancing rate and the fixed loan
interest rate on at-risk loans outstanding for the period in question.

The reinvestment rate for savings and the refinancing rate for loans are derived from the swap yield curve and from
the spreads expected on financial instruments of similar type and maturity. Spreads are determined on the basis of
actual spreads on fixed-rate home loans in the case of the loan phase and products offered to individual clients in
the case of the savings phase. In order to reflect the uncertainty of future interest rate trends, and the impact of
such trends on customer behaviour models and on at-risk outstandings, the obligations are estimated using the
Monte-Carlo method.

Where the sum of the Group’s estimated future obligations with respect to the savings and loan phases of any
generation of contracts indicates a potentially unfavourable situation for the Group, a provision is recognised (with
no offset between generations) in the balance sheet in “Provisions for contingencies and charges”. Movements in
this provision are recognised as interest income in the profit and loss account.
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1.£.5 IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS MEASURED AT AMORTISED COST AND DEBT INSTRUMENTS
MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

The impairment model for credit risk is based on expected losses.

This model applies to loans and debt instruments measured at amortised cost or at fair value through equity, to
loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are not recognised at fair value, as well as to lease
receivables, trade receivables and contract assets.

General model

The Group identifies three “stages” that each correspond to a specific status with regards to the evolution of
counterparty credit risk since the initial recognition of the asset.

- 12-month expected credit losses (“stage 1”): If at the reporting date, the credit risk of the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since its initial recognition, this instrument is impaired at an amount equal to 12-
month expected credit losses (resulting from the risk of default within the next 12 months).

- Lifetime expected credit losses for non-impaired assets (“stage 2”): The loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition, but the financial asset is not considered credit-impaired or doubtful.

- Lifetime expected credit losses for credit-impaired or doubtful financial assets (“stage 3”): The loss allowance is
also measured for an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses.

This general model is applied to all instruments within the scope of IFRS 9 impairment, except for purchased or
originated credit-impaired financial assets and instruments for which a simplified model is used (see below).

The IFRS 9 expected credit loss approach is symmetrical, i.e. if lifetime expected credit losses have been
recognised in a previous reporting period, and if it is assessed in the current reporting period that there is no longer
any significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the loss allowance reverts to a 12-months expected
credit loss.

As regards interest income, under “stages” 1 and 2, it is calculated on the gross carrying amount. Under “stage 3”,
interest income is calculated on the amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance).

Definition of default

The definition of default is aligned with the Basel regulatory default definition, with a rebuttable presumption that the
default occurs no later than 90 days past due. This definition takes into account the EBA guidelines of 28
September 2016, notably those regarding the thresholds applicable for the counting of past-due and probation
periods.

The definition of default is used consistently for assessing the increase in credit risk and measuring expected credit
losses.

Credit-impaired or doubtful financial assets

Definition

A financial asset is considered credit-impaired or doubtful and classified in “stage 3” when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.

At an individual level, objective evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
regarding the following events: the existence of accounts that are more than 90 days past due; knowledge or
indications that the borrower is experiencing significant financial difficulties, such that a risk can be considered to
have arisen regardless of whether the borrower has missed any payments; concessions with respect to the credit
terms granted to the borrower that the lender would not have considered had the borrower not been in financial
difficulty (see section Restructuring of financial assets for financial difficulties).
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Specific cases of purchased or originated credit-impaired assets
In some cases, financial assets are credit-impaired at initial recognition.

For these assets, no loss allowance is recorded on initial recognition. The effective interest rate is calculated taking
into account the lifetime expected credit losses in the initial estimated cash flows. Any change in lifetime expected
credit losses since initial recognition, positive or negative, is recognised as a loss allowance adjustment in profit or
loss.

Simplified model

The simplified approach consists in accounting for a loss allowance corresponding to lifetime expected credit
losses since initial recognition, and at each reporting date.

The group applies this model to trade receivables with a maturity shorter than 12 months.
Significant increase in credit risk

A significant increase in credit risk may be assessed on an individual basis or on a collective basis (by grouping
financial instruments according to common credit risk characteristics), taking into account all reasonable and
supportable information and comparing the risk of default of the financial instrument at the reporting date with the
risk of default of the financial instrument at the date of initial recognition.

Assessment of deterioration is based on the comparison of the probabilities of default derived from the ratings on
the date of initial recognition with those existing at the reporting date.

There is also, according to the standard, a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk of an instrument has
significantly increased since initial recognition when the contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

In the consumer credit specialist business, a significant increase in credit risk is also considered when a past due
event has occurred within the last 12 months, even if it has since been regularised.

The principles applied to assess the significant increase in credit risk are detailed in note 3.g Cost of risk.

Measurement of expected credit losses

Expected credit losses are defined as an estimate of credit losses (i.e. the present value of all cash shortfalls)
weighted by the probability of occurrence of these losses over the expected life of the financial instruments. They
are measured on an individual basis, for all exposures.

In practice, for exposures classified in stage 1 and stage 2, expected credit losses are measured as the product of
the probability of default (“PD”), loss given default (“LGD”) and exposure at default (‘EAD”), discounted at the
effective interest rate of the exposure (EIR). They result from the risk of default within the next 12 months (stage 1),
or from the risk of default over the maturity of the facility (stage 2). In the consumer credit specialist business,
because of the specificity of credit exposures, the methodology used is based on the probability of transition to
term forfeiture, and on discounted loss rates after term forfeiture. These parameters are measured on a statistical
basis for homogeneous populations.

For exposures classified in stage 3, expected credit losses are measured as the value, discounted at the effective
interest rate, of all cash shortfalls over the life of the financial instrument. Cash shortfalls represent the difference
between the cash-flows that are due in accordance with the contract, and the cash-flows that are expected to be
received. Where appropriate, the estimate of expected cash flows takes into account a cash flow scenario arising
from the sale of the defaulted loans or groups of loans. Proceeds from the sale are recorded net of costs to sell.

The methodology developed is based on existing concepts and methods (in particular the Basel framework) on
exposures for which capital requirement for credit risk is measured according to the IRBA methodology. This
method is also applied to portfolios for which capital requirement for credit risk is measured according to the
standardised approach. Besides, the Basel framework has been adjusted in order to be compliant with IFRS 9
requirements, in particular the use of forward-looking information.
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Maturity

All contractual terms of the financial instrument are taken into account, including prepayment, extension and similar
options. In the rare cases where the expected life of the financial instrument cannot be estimated reliably, the
residual contractual term is used. The standard specifies that the maximum period to consider when measuring
expected credit losses is the maximum contractual period. However, for revolving credit cards and overdrafts, in
accordance with the exception provided by IFRS 9 for these products, the maturity considered for measuring
expected credit losses is the period over which the entity is exposed to credit risk, which may extend beyond the
contractual maturity (notice period). For revolving credits and overdrafts to non-retail counterparties, the contractual
maturity can be used, for example if the next review date is the contractual maturity as they are individually
managed.

Probabilities of Default (PD)
Probability of Default is an estimate of the likelihood of default over a given time horizon.

The determination of the PD is based on the Group’s internal rating system, which is described in chapter 5 of the
Universal registration document (section 5.4 Credit risk — Credit risk management policy). This section describes
how environmental, social and governance (ESG) risks are taken into account in credit and rating policies, notably
with the introduction of a new tool: the ESG Assessment.

The measurement of expected credit losses requires the estimation of both 1-year probabilities of default and
lifetime probabilities of default.

1-year PDs are derived from long term average regulatory “through the cycle” PDs to reflect the current situation
(“Point in Time” or “PIT”).

Lifetime PDs are determined based on the rating migration matrices reflecting the expected changes in the rating of
the exposure until maturity, and the associated probabilities of default.

Loss Given Default (LGD)

Loss Given Default is the difference between contractual cash-flows and expected cash-flows, discounted using
the effective interest rate (or an approximation thereof) at the default date. LGD is expressed as a percentage of
the Exposure At Default (EAD).

The estimate of expected cash flows takes into account cash flows resulting from the sale of collateral held or other
credit enhancements if they are part of the contractual terms and are not accounted for separately by the entity (for
example, a mortgage associated with a residential loan), net of the costs of obtaining and selling the collateral.

For guaranteed loans, the guarantee is considered as integral to the loan agreement if it is embedded in the
contractual clauses of the loan, or if it was granted concomitantly to the loan, and if the expected reimbursement
amount can be attached to a loan in particular (i.e. absence of pooling effect by means of a tranching mechanism,
or the existence of a global cap for a whole portfolio). In such case, the guarantee is taken into account when
measuring the expected credit losses. Otherwise, it is accounted for as a separate reimbursement asset.

The LGD used for IFRS 9 purposes is derived from the Basel LGD parameters. It is adjusted for downturn and
conservatism margins (in particular regulatory margins), except for margins for model uncertainties.

Exposure At Default (EAD)

Exposure At Default (EAD) of an instrument is the anticipated outstanding amount owed by the obligor at the time
of default. It is determined by the expected payment profile taking into account, depending on the product type: the
contractual repayment schedule, expected early repayments and expected future drawings for revolving facilities.

Forward-looking information

The amount of expected credit losses is measured on the basis of probability-weighted scenarios, in view of past
events, current conditions and reasonable and supportable economic forecasts.
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The principles applied to take into account forward-looking information when measuring expected credit losses are
detailed in note 3.g Cost of risk.

Write-offs

A write-off consists in reducing the gross carrying amount of a financial asset when there are no longer reasonable
expectations of recovering that financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof, or when it has been fully or
partially forgiven. The write-off is recorded when all other means available to the Bank for recovering the
receivables or guarantees have failed, and also generally depends on the context specific to each jurisdiction.

If the amount of loss on write-off is greater than the accumulated loss allowance, the difference is recognised as an
additional impairment loss in “Cost of risk”. For any recovery once the financial asset (or part thereof) is no longer
recognised on the balance sheet, the amount received is recorded as a gain in “Cost of risk”.

Recoveries through the repossession of the collateral

When a loan is secured by a financial or a non-financial asset serving as a guarantee and the counterparty is in
default, the Group may decide to exercise the guarantee and, depending on the jurisdiction, it may then become
owner of the asset. In such a situation, the loan is written-off against the asset received as collateral.

Once ownership of the asset is effective, it is recognised at fair value and classified according to the intent of use.
Restructuring of financial assets for financial difficulties

A restructuring due to the borrower's financial difficulties is defined as a change in the terms and conditions of the
initial transaction that the Group is considering only for economic or legal reasons related to the borrower's financial
difficulties.

For restructurings not resulting in derecognition of the financial asset, the restructured asset’s gross carrying
amount is reduced to the discounted amount, using the original effective interest rate of the asset, of the new
expected future flows. The change in the gross carrying amount of the asset is recorded in the income statement in
“Cost of risk”.

The existence of a significant increase in credit risk for the financial instrument is then assessed by comparing the
risk of default after the restructuring (under the revised contractual terms) and the risk of default at the initial
recognition date (under the original contractual terms). In order to demonstrate that the criteria for recognising
lifetime expected credit losses are no longer met, good payment behaviour will have to be observed over a certain
period of time.

When the restructuring consists of a partial or total exchange against other substantially different assets (for
example, the exchange of a debt instrument against an equity instrument), it results in the extinction of the original
asset and the recognition of the assets remitted in exchange, measured at their fair value at the date of exchange.
The difference in value is recorded in the income statement in “Cost of risk”.

Modifications to financial assets that are not due to a borrower’s financial difficulties, or granted in the context of a
moratorium (i.e. commercial renegotiations) are generally analysed as the early repayment of the former loan,
which is then derecognised, followed by the set-up of a new loan at market conditions. If there is no significant
repayment penalty, they consist in resetting the interest rate of the loan at market conditions, with the client being
in a position to change lender and not encountering any financial difficulties.

Probation periods

The Group applies observation periods to assess the possible return to a better stage. Accordingly, a 3-month
probation period is observed for the transition from stage 3 to stage 2 which is extended to 12 months in the event
of restructuring due to financial difficulties.

For the transition from stage 2 to stage 1, a probation period of two years is observed for loans that have been
restructured due to financial difficulties.
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1.f.6 COST OF RISK

Cost of risk includes the following items of profit or loss:

- impairment gains and losses resulting from the accounting of loss allowances for 12-month expected credit
losses and lifetime expected credit losses (“stage 1” and “stage 2”) relating to debt instruments measured at
amortised cost or at fair value through shareholders' equity, loan commitments and financial guarantee
contracts that are not recognised at fair value as well as lease receivables, contract assets and trade
receivables;

- impairment gains and losses resulting from the accounting of loss allowances relating to financial assets
(including those at fair value through profit or loss) for which there is objective evidence of impairment (“stage
3”), write-offs on irrecoverable loans and amounts recovered on loans written-off;

It also includes expenses relating to fraud and to disputes inherent to the financing activity.
1.f.7 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Trading portfolio and other financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss
The trading portfolio includes instruments held for trading (trading transactions), including derivatives.

Other financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss include debt instruments that do not meet the
“collect” or “collect and sale” business model criterion or that do not meet the cash flow criterion, as well as equity
instruments for which the fair value through shareholders’ equity option has not been retained. Finally financial
assets may be designated as at fair value through profit or loss if this enables the entity to eliminate or significantly
reduce a mismatch in the measurement and accounting treatment of assets and liabilities that would otherwise
arise if they were to be classified in separate categories.

All those financial instruments are measured at fair value at initial recognition, with transaction costs directly posted
in profit or loss. At the reporting date, they are measured at fair value, with changes presented in “Net gain/loss on
financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”. Income, dividends, and realised gains and losses on
disposal related to held-for-trading transactions are accounted for in the same profit or loss account.

Financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities are recognised under option in this category in the two following situations:

- for hybrid financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives which otherwise would have
been separated and accounted for separately. An embedded derivative is such that its economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract;

- when using the option enables the entity to eliminate or significantly reduce a mismatch in the measurement
and accounting treatment of assets and liabilities that would otherwise arise if they were to be classified in
separate categories.

Changes in fair value due to the own credit risk are recognised under a specific heading of shareholders’ equity.
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1.£.8 FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument issued or its various components are classified as a financial liability or equity instrument, in
accordance with the economic substance of the legal contract.

Financial instruments issued by the Group are qualified as debt instruments if the entity in the Group issuing the
instruments has a contractual obligation to deliver cash or another financial asset to the holder of the instrument.
The same applies if the Group is required to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity
under conditions that are potentially unfavourable to the Group, or to deliver a variable number of the Group’s own
equity instruments.

Equity instruments result from contracts evidencing a residual interest in an entity's assets after deducting all of its
liabilities.

Debt securities and subordinated debt

Debt securities and subordinated debt are measured at amortised cost unless they are recognised at fair value
through profit or loss.

Debt securities are initially recognised at the issue value including transaction costs and are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Issued bonds redeemable or convertible into own equity may contain a debt component and an equity component,
determined upon initial recognition of the transaction. In this case, they will be qualified as compound financial
instruments.

In this respect, the Group has elected to record contingent convertible bonds issued, without maturity, when
convertible into a variable number of own shares on the occurrence of a predetermined trigger event (e.g. a
decrease in the solvency ratio below a threshold), as compound instruments, to the extent that the coupons on
these bonds are paid discretionarily.

Equity instruments

The term “own equity instruments” refers to shares issued by the parent company (BNP Paribas SA) and by its fully
consolidated subsidiaries. External costs that are directly attributable to an issue of new shares are deducted from
equity net of all related taxes.

Own equity instruments held by the Group, also known as treasury shares, are deducted from consolidated
shareholders’ equity irrespective of the purpose for which they are held. Gains and losses arising on such
instruments are eliminated from the consolidated profit and loss account.

When the Group acquires equity instruments issued by subsidiaries under the exclusive control of BNP Paribas,
the difference between the acquisition price and the share of net assets acquired is recorded in retained earnings
attributable to BNP Paribas shareholders. Similarly, the liability corresponding to put options granted to minority
shareholders in such subsidiaries, and changes in the value of that liability, are offset against minority interests,
with any surplus offset against retained earnings attributable to BNP Paribas shareholders. Until these options
have been exercised, the portion of net income attributable to minority interests is allocated to minority interests in
the profit and loss account. A decrease in the Group’s interest in a fully consolidated subsidiary is recognised in the
Group's accounts as a change in shareholders' equity.

Financial instruments issued by the Group and classified as equity instruments (e.g. Undated Super Subordinated
Notes) are presented in the balance sheet in “Capital and retained earnings”.

Distributions from a financial instrument classified as an equity instrument are recognised directly as a deduction
from equity. Similarly, the transaction costs of an instrument classified as equity are recognised as a deduction
from shareholders’ equity.

Own equity instrument derivatives are treated as follows, depending on the method of settlement:

- as equity instruments if they are settled by physical delivery of a fixed number of own equity instruments for a
fixed amount of cash or other financial asset. Such instruments are not revalued;

- as derivatives if they are settled in cash or by choice by physical delivery of the shares or in cash. Changes in
value of such instruments are taken to the profit and loss account.
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If the contract includes an obligation, whether contingent or not, for the bank to repurchase its own shares, the
bank recognises the debt at its present value with an offsetting entry in shareholders’ equity.

1.f.9 HEDGE ACCOUNTING

The Group retained the option provided by the standard to maintain the hedge accounting requirements of IAS 39
until the future standard on macro-hedging is entered into force. Furthermore, IFRS 9 does not explicitly address
the fair value hedge of the interest rate risk on a portfolio of financial assets or liabilities. The provisions in IAS 39
for these portfolio hedges, as adopted by the European Union, continue to apply.

Derivatives contracted as part of a hedging relationship are designated according to the purpose of the hedge.

Fair value hedges are particularly used to hedge interest rate risk on fixed-rate assets and liabilities, both for
identified financial instruments (securities, debt issues, loans, borrowings) and for portfolios of financial instruments
(in particular, demand deposits and fixed-rate loans).

Cash flow hedges are particularly used to hedge interest rate risk on floating-rate assets and liabilities, including
rollovers, and foreign exchange risks on highly probable forecast foreign currency revenues.

At the inception of the hedge, the Group prepares formal documentation which details the hedging relationship,
identifying the instrument, or portion of the instrument, or portion of risk that is being hedged, the hedging strategy
and the type of risk hedged, the hedging instrument, and the methods used to assess the effectiveness of the
hedging relationship.

On inception and at least quarterly, the Group assesses, in consistency with the original documentation, the actual
(retrospective) and expected (prospective) effectiveness of the hedging relationship. Retrospective effectiveness
tests are designed to assess whether the ratio of actual changes in the fair value or cash flows of the hedging
instrument to those in the hedged item is within a range of 80% to 125%. Prospective effectiveness tests are
designed to ensure that expected changes in the fair value or cash flows of the derivative over the residual life of
the hedge adequately offset those of the hedged item. For highly probable forecast transactions, effectiveness is
assessed largely on the basis of historical data for similar transactions.

Under IAS 39 as adopted by the European Union, which excludes certain provisions on portfolio hedging, interest
rate risk hedging relationships based on portfolios of assets or liabilities qualify for fair value hedge accounting as
follows:

- the risk designated as being hedged is the interest rate risk associated with the interbank rate component of
interest rates on commercial banking transactions (loans to customers, savings accounts and demand
deposits);

- the instruments designated as being hedged correspond, for each maturity band, to a portion of the interest
rate gap associated with the hedged underlying;

- the hedging instruments used consist exclusively of “plain vanilla” swaps;

- prospective hedge effectiveness is established by the fact that all derivatives must, on inception, have the
effect of reducing interest rate risk in the portfolio of hedged underlying. Retrospectively, a hedge will be
disqualified from hedge accounting once a shortfall arises in the underlying specifically associated with that
hedge for each maturity band (due to prepayment of loans or withdrawals of deposits).

The accounting treatment of derivatives and hedged items depends on the hedging strategy.

In a fair value hedging relationship, the derivative instrument is remeasured at fair value in the balance sheet, with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss in “Net gain/loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit
or loss”, symmetrically with the remeasurement of the hedged item to reflect the hedged risk. In the balance sheet,
the fair value remeasurement of the hedged component is recognised in accordance with the classification of the
hedged item in the case of a hedge of identified assets and liabilities, or under “Remeasurement adjustment on
interest rate risk hedged portfolios” in the case of a portfolio hedging relationship.

If a hedging relationship ceases or no longer fulfils the effectiveness criteria, the hedging instrument is transferred
to the trading book and accounted for using the treatment applied to this category. In the case of identified fixed-
income instruments, the remeasurement adjustment recognised in the balance sheet is amortised at the effective
interest rate over the remaining life of the instrument. In the case of interest rate risk hedged fixed-income
portfolios, the adjustment is amortised on a straight-line basis over the remainder of the original term of the hedge.
If the hedged item no longer appears in the balance sheet, in particular due to prepayments, the adjustment is
taken to the profit and loss account immediately.
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In a cash flow hedging relationship, the derivative is measured at fair value in the balance sheet, with changes in
fair value taken to shareholders’ equity on a separate line, “Changes in fair value recognised directly in equity”. The
amounts taken to shareholders’ equity over the life of the hedge are transferred to the profit and loss account under
“Net interest income” as and when the cash flows from the hedged item impact profit or loss. The hedged items
continue to be accounted for using the treatment specific to the category to which they belong.

If the hedging relationship ceases or no longer fulfils the effectiveness criteria, the cumulative amounts recognised
in shareholders’ equity as a result of the remeasurement of the hedging instrument remain in equity until the
hedged transaction itself impacts profit or loss, or until it becomes clear that the transaction will not occur, at which
point they are transferred to the profit and loss account.

If the hedged item ceases to exist, the cumulative amounts recognised in shareholders’ equity are immediately
taken to the profit and loss account.

Whatever the hedging strategy used, any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised in the profit and loss
account under “Net gain/loss on financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss”.

Hedges of net foreign currency investments in subsidiaries and branches are accounted for in the same way as
cash flow hedges. Hedging instruments may be foreign exchange derivatives or any other non-derivative financial
instrument.

1.f.10 DETERMINATION OF FAIR VALUE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants in the principal market or most advantageous market, at the measurement date.

The Group determines the fair value of financial instruments either by using prices obtained directly from external
data or by using valuation techniques. These valuation techniques are primarily market and income approaches
encompassing generally accepted models (e.g. discounted cash flows, Black-Scholes model, and interpolation
techniques). They maximise the use of observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs. They are
calibrated to reflect current market conditions and valuation adjustments are applied as appropriate, when some
factors such as model, liquidity and credit risks are not captured by the models or their underlying inputs but are
nevertheless considered by market participants when setting the exit price.

The unit of measurement is the individual financial asset or financial liability but a portfolio-based measurement can
be elected, subject to certain conditions. Accordingly, the Group retains this portfolio-based measurement
exception to determine the fair value when some group of financial assets and financial liabilities and other
contracts within the scope of the standard relating to financial instruments with substantially similar and offsetting
market risks or credit risks are managed on the basis of a net exposure, in accordance with the documented risk
management strategy.

Assets and liabilities measured or disclosed at fair value are categorised into the three following levels of the fair
value hierarchy:

- Level 1: fair values are determined using directly quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and
liabilities. Characteristics of an active market include the existence of a sufficient frequency and volume of
activity and of readily available prices;

- Level 2: fair values are determined based on valuation techniques for which significant inputs are observable
market data, either directly or indirectly. These techniques are regularly calibrated and the inputs are
corroborated with information from active markets;

- Level 3: fair values are determined using valuation techniques for which significant inputs are unobservable or
cannot be corroborated by market-based observations, due for instance to illiquidity of the instrument and
significant model risk. An unobservable input is a parameter for which there are no market data available and
that is therefore derived from proprietary assumptions about what other market participants would consider
when assessing fair value. The assessment of whether a product is illiquid or subject to significant model risks
is a matter of judgment.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the asset or liability is categorised in its entirety is based upon the
lowest level input that is significant to the entire fair value.
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For financial instruments disclosed in Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy, and marginally some instruments
disclosed in Level 2, a difference between the transaction price and the fair value may arise at initial recognition.
This “Day One Profit” is deferred and released to the profit and loss account over the period during which the
valuation parameters are expected to remain non-observable. When parameters that were originally non-
observable become observable, or when the valuation can be substantiated in comparison with recent similar
transactions in an active market, the unrecognised portion of the day one profit is released to the profit and loss
account.

1.f£.11 DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises all or part of a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows of the asset
expire, or when the Group transfers the asset — either on the basis of a transfer of the contractual rights to its cash
flows, or by retaining the contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the asset while assuming an obligation to
pay the cash flows of the asset under an eligible pass-through arrangement — as well as substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset.

Where the Group has transferred the cash flows of a financial asset but has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset and has not in practice retained control of
the financial asset, the Group derecognises the financial asset and then records separately, if necessary, an asset
or liability representing the rights and obligations created or held as part of the transfer of the asset. If the Group
has retained control of the financial asset, it maintains it on its balance sheet to the extent of its continuing
involvement in that asset.

Upon the derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, a gain or loss on disposal is recognised in the profit and
loss account for an amount equal to the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the value of the
consideration received, adjusted where appropriate for any unrealised gain or loss previously recognised directly in
equity.

If all these conditions are not met, the Group retains the asset in its balance sheet and recognises a liability for the
obligations arising on the transfer of the asset.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises all or part of a financial liability when the liability is extinguished, i.e. when the obligation
specified in the contract is extinguished, cancelled or expired. A financial liability may also be derecognised in the
event of a substantial change in its contractual terms or if exchanged with the lender for an instrument with
substantially different contractual terms.

Repurchase agreements and securities lending/borrowing

Securities temporarily sold under repurchase agreements continue to be recognised in the Group’s balance sheet
in the category of securities to which they belong. The corresponding liability is recognised at amortised cost under
the appropriate “Financial liabilities at amortised cost” category on the balance sheet, except in the case of
repurchase agreements contracted for trading purposes, for which the corresponding liability is recognised in
“Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”.

Securities temporarily acquired under reverse repurchase agreements are not recognised in the Group’s balance
sheet. The corresponding receivable is recognised at amortised cost under the appropriate “Financial assets at
amortised cost” category in the balance sheet, except in the case of reverse repurchase agreements contracted for
trading purposes, for which the corresponding receivable is recognised in “Financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss”.

Securities lending transactions do not result in derecognition of the lent securities, and securities borrowing
transactions do not result in recognition of the borrowed securities on the balance sheet. In cases where the
borrowed securities are subsequently sold by the Group, the obligation to deliver the borrowed securities on
maturity is recognised on the balance sheet under “Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss”.
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1.£.12 OFFSETTING FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount presented in the balance sheet if, and only if,
the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts, and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Repurchase agreements and derivatives that meet the two criteria set out in the accounting standard are offset in
the balance sheet.

1.9 INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

1.9.1 INVESTMENTS RELATED TO INSURANCE ACTIVITIES

IFRS 9 is applied in the same way as other Group entities (see note 1.f).

Investments of insurance activities include investment property which are measured at fair value as underlying
assets of direct participating contracts.

1.9.2 INSURANCE CONTRACTS

The Group applies IFRS 17 to insurance contracts issued, reinsurance contracts issued and held, and discretionary
investment contracts issued (if the entity also issues insurance contracts).

The main IFRS 17 contracts issued by the Group correspond to:
- contracts covering risks related to persons or property, and
- life or savings contracts.

These contracts are described in note 6.d “Assets and liabilities related to insurance contracts”.
- Prior separation of components covered by other standards and not closely related

When insurance or investment contracts with discretionary participation include components, which would fall
within the scope of another standard if they were separate contracts, an analysis must be carried out to determine
whether these components should be accounted for separately. Thus:

- an embedded derivative is separated from the host insurance contract and accounted for under IFRS 9
when its economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract;

- an investment component corresponds to the amount that the insurer is required to repay to the insured in
all cases whether the insured event occurs or not. It is separated from the host insurance contract and
accounted for under IFRS 9 when it is distinct from the host insurance contract and when equivalent
contracts could be sold separately in the same market or legal area. It is not separated if it is closely linked
to the host contract. Changes in a non-distinct investment component (and in particular related payments)
are not recognised in the profit and loss account;

- apromise to transfer to the policyholder distinct goods or services other than the services of the insurance
contract is separated from the host insurance contract and accounted for under IFRS 15.

- Insurance contracts

An insurance contract is a contract under which a party, the issuer, assumes a significant insurance risk for another
party, the policyholder, by agreeing to indemnify the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event, the insured
event, is detrimental to the policyholder.

An insurance risk is significant if, and only if, an insured event can cause the insurer to pay significant additional
amounts in any scenario, excluding scenarios that are devoid of commercial substance. A contract transfers a
significant insurance risk only if there is a scenario with a commercial substance in which there is a possibility that
the issuer will incur a loss based on the present value.
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- Investment contracts with discretionary participating features

Investment contracts do not expose the insurer to significant insurance risk. They are within the scope of IFRS 17 if
they are issued by entities that also issue insurance contracts.

Discretionary participation is defined as the contractual right to receive, in addition to an amount that is not at the
issuer’s discretion, additional amounts that are likely to represent a significant portion of the total benefits provided
under the contract, the timing or amount of which is contractually left to the issuer's discretion and that are
contractually based on the returns arising from a defined set of contracts or type of contract or on the realised
and/or unrealised investment returns from a defined set of assets held by the issuer, or the result of the entity or
fund issuing the contract.

Accounting and measurement

- Aggregation of contracts

Insurance contracts are accounted and measured by groups of contracts within portfolios of contracts covering
similar risks and managed together. Groups of contracts are determined according to their expected profitability at
inception: onerous contracts, profitable contracts with a low risk of becoming onerous, and others. A group of
contracts may contain only contracts issued no more than one year apart (corresponding to an annual “cohort”),
except where the optional exemption provided for in the European regulation applies (for life-savings contracts).

For creditor protection insurance (CPI), personal protection insurance and other non-life risks, the Group uses the
following discriminatory criteria when constructing portfolios of homogeneous contracts: legal entity, nature of the
risks and partner, distributor. The reinsurance contracts accepted shall follow the same principles.

For life and savings contracts, the Group uses the following criteria for insurance portfolios: legal entity, product
and underlying assets. Savings and retirement contracts are classified in separate portfolios (including in the period
prior to the transition) due to the existence of a risk of longevity in retirement contracts.

For reinsurance contracts held, the Group uses the following criteria: legal entity, underlying item and partner. A
portfolio can sometimes correspond to a single reinsurance treaty.

- Recognition and derecognition

A group of insurance contracts (or reinsurance contracts issued) is recognised from the earliest of the following
dates: the beginning of the period of coverage of the group of contracts, the date on which the first payment of a
policyholder in the group becomes due (or, in the absence of such a date, when the first payment is received) and,
in the case of a group of onerous contracts, the date on which the group becomes onerous.

A group of reinsurance contracts held is recognised from the beginning of the period of coverage of the group of
reinsurance contracts held or, if the reinsurance was contracted in anticipation of the coverage of an underlying
group of onerous insurance contracts, on the first recognition of that onerous group.

On initial recognition of portfolios of insurance contracts acquired as part of a business combination or a separate
transfer, groups of contracts acquired are treated as if the contracts had been issued at the date of the transaction.
The consideration received or paid in exchange for the contracts is treated as an approximation of the premiums
received for the purpose of calculating the contractual service margin at initial recognition from this amount. In the
case of a business combination within the scope of IFRS 3, the consideration received or paid is the fair value of
the contracts at that date. For onerous contracts, the excess of the fulfiiment cash flows over the consideration paid
or received is recognised in the goodwill (or the profit resulting from an acquisition on advantageous terms) if it is a
business combination and in a separate transfer, in the profit and loss account. For profitable contracts, the
difference is recorded as a contractual service margin. In addition, an asset for cash flows related to acquisition
costs must be recognised, for its fair value, for the acquisition costs related to the renewal of existing insurance
contracts or for the acquisition costs already paid by the acquired company for future contracts.

An insurance contract shall be derecognised when the obligation it covers is extinguished, by payment or maturity,
or if the terms of the contract are amended in such a way that the accounting treatment of the contract would have
been substantially different if those amendments had originally existed. The derecognition of a contract entails the
adjustment of the fulfilment cash flows, the contractual services margin and the coverage units of the group in
which it was included.
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¢ General measurement model (Building Block Approach — BBA)

The general model for the measurement of insurance contracts is the best estimate of the future cash flows to be
paid or received necessary to meet contractual obligations. This estimate should reflect the different possible
scenarios and the effect of the options and guarantees included in the contracts within the limit or “contract
boundary”. The determination of this contract boundary requires an analysis of the rights and obligations arising
from the contract and, in particular, of the insurer’s ability to change its price to reflect the risks. This leads, for
example, to the exclusion of tacit renewals if the tariff can be amended or to the inclusion of such renewals if not.

Cash flows are discounted to reflect the time value of money. They correspond only to cash flows attributable to
insurance contracts either directly or through allocation methods: premiums, acquisition and contract management
costs, claims and benefits, indirect costs, taxes and depreciation of tangible and intangible assets.

The cash flows estimate is supplemented by an explicit risk adjustment to cover the uncertainty for non-financial
risk. These two elements constitute the fulfilment cash flows of the contracts. A contractual service margin is added
representing the expected gain or loss on future services related to a group of contracts.

If the contractual service margin is positive, it is shown on the balance sheet within the insurance contract's
measurement and amortised as the services are rendered; if negative, it is recognised immediately in the income
statement. The original loss (or “loss component”) is monitored extra-accounting to allow for the subsequent
recognition of the insurance service revenue.

Acquisition costs are deducted from the contractual service margin of the group of contracts to which they relate.

At each reporting date, the carrying amount of a group of insurance contracts is the sum of the liabilities for the
remaining coverage which include the fulfilment cash flows related to future services (best estimate and risk
adjustment) and the contractual service margin remaining at that date, and of the liabilities for incurred claims
which include include the best estimate of the cash flows and the risk adjustment, without any contractual service
margin. The assumptions used to estimate future cash flows and the non-financial risks adjustment are updated, as
well as the discount rate, to reflect the situation at the reporting date.

The contractual service margin is adjusted for changes in the estimates of non-financial assumptions related to
future services, capitalized at inception rate, and then amortised in the income statement for services rendered
over the period in the insurance service revenue. In the case of contracts which become onerous, after
consumption of the contractual service margin, the loss is recognised in the reporting period. In the case of
onerous contracts that become profitable again as a result of favourable changes in assumptions, the contractual
service margin is only reconstitued after offsetting the loss component

The release of expected fulfillment flows (cash flow estimates and risk adjustments) for the period, except for the
amount allocated to the loss component, is recorded in insurance service revenue. The change in estimates related
to past service is recognised in insurance service expenses.

The Group includes the change in the adjustment for non-financial risk in its entirety in the insurance service result.

The Group records in equity the effect of the change in the discount rate. The expense of unwinding the discount is
recorded in “insurance financial income or expenses” based on the initial rate (the inception rate for the liability for
remaining coverage, and the rate at claims occurrence date for the liability for incurred claims). The difference
between the value of liabilities discounted at the rate fixed at initial date and the value of those same liabilities
estimated using current discount rate is recognised in equity. The effect on liabilities of changes in financial
variables, in particular the indexation of benefits under the contract, is also recognised in equity.

Creditor protection insurance (CPIl), personal protection insurance and other non-life risks are measured either
according to the general model or, if the conditions are met, using the simplified approach. The same treatment
applies to reinsurance contracts assumed or held.

The discount rate is based on the risk-free rate adjusted for the illiquidity of the liabilities.
The risk adjustment is determined using the quantile method.

The coverage unit used to amortise the contractual service margin is derived from the risk premium earned during
the period.
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e Measurement model for contracts with direct participation features (Variable Fee Approach — VFA)
Direct participating contracts are insurance or investment contracts for which:

- the contractual terms specify that the policyholder is entitled to a share of a clearly defined portfolio of
underlying assets;

- the insurer expects to pay the policyholder a sum corresponding to a substantial portion of the return on the
fair value of the underlying assets;

- the insurer expects that any change in the amounts to be paid to the policyholder is, in a substantial
proportion, attributable to the change in the fair value of the underlying assets.

Compliance with these conditions is monitored on the underwriting date and is not reviewed later.

For these contracts, for which the insurer has to pay the policyholder an amount corresponding to the fair value of
clearly identified underlying assets, less a variable compensation, a specific model (called the “Variable Fee
Approach”) has been developed by adapting the general model.

At each reporting date, liabilities related to these contracts are adjusted for the return earned and changes in the
fair value of the underlying assets: the policyholders’ share is recorded in the contract fulfilment cash flows against
insurance financial income or expense and the insurer’s share corresponding to the variable fee is included in the
contractual service margin.

The contractual service margin is also adjusted for the effect of changes in cash flows that do not vary according to
the returns on the underlying assets and that relate to future services: estimation of cash flows, risk adjustment,
changes in the time value effect of money and changes in the financial risks that do not result from the underlying
assets (for example, the effect of financial guarantees).

Changes in the fulfillment cash flows that do not change in connection with the yields of underlying assets and that
relate to past service events are recognised in the profit and loss account.

Due to the mechanism for allocating the change in the value of the underlying assets between the policyholders
and the insurer, the result of these contracts is in principle mainly represented by the release of the fulfilment cash
flows and the amortisation of the contractual service margin. When the underlying assets fully support the liabilities
and are measured at fair value through profit or loss, the financial result under these contracts should be nil. The
Group has chosen the option of reclassifying in shareholders’ equity the change in the liabilities related to the
underlying assets that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Life and savings contracts meeting the above definition of direct participating contracts are valued using the
variable fee approach. When these contracts include a surrender value, it meets the definition of a non-distinct
investment component and changes in that investment component (including related payments) are therefore not
recognised in the income statement.

The Group has chosen to apply the option introduced by the European regulation not to divide the portfolios of
participating contracts based on intergenerational mutualisation by annual cohort. This option is applied to
insurance contracts and investment contracts with discretionary participation that are eligible to the variable fee
approach, euro mono-supports or multi-supports including a euro fund, for which the policyholders’ profit-sharing is
mutualised between the different generations of policyholders in France, ltaly and Luxembourg. As a result of this
choice, the assessment of the onerousness is made on the basis of the portfolio and not on the basis of the annual
cohorts.

The contract boundary includes future payments as long as the applicable pricing is not modifiable (e.g. acquisition
or management loadings), as well as the annuity phase in service when contracts provide for a mandatory annuity.

The discount rate is based on the risk-free rate, extrapolated over the duration exceeding the period for which
observable data are available and adjusted by a liquidity premium on the basis of the underlying assets to reflect
the illiquidity of the liabilities.

The risk adjustment is determined using the cost of capital method including future payments without considering
the risk of mass lapses.

The coverage unit used to amortise the contractual service margin is the change in savings due to policyholders
(determined at present value), adjusted to take into account the impact of the real return on financial or property
assets compared to the actuarial neutral risk projection.
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e Simplified measurement model (Premium Allocation Approach — PAA)

Short-term contracts (less than one year) may be measured using a simplified approach known as the premium
allocation approach, also applicable to longer-term contracts if it leads to results similar to those of the general
model in terms of liability for the remaining coverage. For profitable contracts, the liability for the remaining
coverage is measured based on the deferral of premiums collected according to a logic similar to that used under
IFRS 4. Onerous contracts and liabilities for incurred claims are valued according to the general model. Liabilities
for incurred claims are discounted if the expected settlement of claims takes place one year after the date of
occurrence. In this case, the option of classifying the effect of changes in the discount rate in equity is also
applicable.

The Group has chosen the option of deferring acquisition costs over the coverage duration and therefore present
them as a deduction of the deferred premiums.

Liabilities for incurred claims are discounted if the expected settlement of claims takes place after one year from
the date of occurrence. The discount expense is recognised in insurance financial income or expenses as in the
general model. In this case, the option to classify the effect of changes in the discount rate into equity is also
applicable. The Group has retained this option for the liabilities for incurred claims.

At each reporting date, the adjustment of liabilities for remaining coverage and for incurred claims is recognised in
profit or loss.

Creditor insurance (ADE), personal protection insurance and other non-life insurance contracts, and reinsurance
contracts assumed or held, are measured using the simplified approach if the conditions are met.

e Treatment of the reinsurance

The reinsurance ceded is also treated according to the general or simplified model, but the equivalent of the
contractual service margin represents the expected gain or loss on the reinsurance and may be positive or
negative. If a reinsurance contract immediately offsets the losses of an underlying group of onerous contracts, the
reinsurance gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. This “loss recovery component” is used to record
amounts that are subsequently presented in net income.

In addition, contract execution flows include the reinsurer’s risk of non-performance.

Reinsurance contracts held are measured by the Group using the simplified approach or the general model.

Presentation in the balance sheet and in the profit and loss

The Group has chosen to present the investments of insurance activities and their results separately from the
financial assets and liabilities of banking activities.

Financial income or expenses from issued insurance contracts are presented separately between the profit and
loss account and shareholders’ equity for portfolios for which this breakdown has been deemed relevant, as
allowed by the standard. For the Protection contracts liabilities measured under the general model and for the
liabilities for incurred claims arising from contracts measured under the simplified model, this choice for portfolios
classification was made by taking into account both the effects in the profit and loss account of the undiscounting of
the liabilities and the accounting treatment of the assets backing them. For contracts measured using the variable
fee approach, this choice was made to offset any accounting mismatch that may exist in the profit and loss account
between the effect of changes in fair value from insurance or investment liabilities and that from the underlying
assets when these are not recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

Insurance contracts may be distributed and managed by non-insurance entities of the Group that are remunerated
as such by commissions paid by insurance entities. The measurement model for insurance contracts requires
projecting in the contract fulfilment cash flows the acquisition and management costs that will be paid in the future
and presenting in the profit and loss account, the release of the estimated costs for the period on the one hand,
and on the other, the actual costs. For commissions between consolidated companies in the Group, the Group
restates the internal margin on the balance sheet and in the profit and loss account (in the breakdown of insurance
liabilities and the related results between cash flows and contractual service margin) by presenting as insurance
service expenses the portion of the general expenses (excluding internal margins) of the banking entities that can
be attributed to the insurance activity. The internal distributors’ margins are determined based on standardised
management data for each of the related networks.
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Effect of accounting estimates in interim financial statements

The Group has elected under IFRS 17 to record in its annual financial statements the effects of changes in
accounting estimates relating to insurance contracts issued or held, without taking into account estimates
previously made in its interim financial statements.

1.h PROPERTY, PLANT, EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets shown in the consolidated balance sheet are composed of
assets used in operations and investment property. Rights-of-use related to leased assets (see note 1.i.2) are
presented by the lessee within fixed assets in the same category as similar assets held.

Assets used in operations are those used in the provision of services or for administrative purposes, and include
non-property assets leased by the Group as lessor under operating leases.

Investment property comprises property assets held to generate rental income and capital gains.

Investment property is recognised at cost, except for those held as underlying assets under participating direct
contracts (as amended by IAS 40), which are measured at fair value through profit or loss and presented in the
balance sheet under “Investments related to insurance activities” (see note 1.g.1).

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are initially recognised at purchase price plus directly
attributable costs, together with borrowing costs where a long period of construction or adaptation is required
before the asset can be brought into service. By way of exception, property occupied by the holder entity that is an
underlying component of direct participating contracts is measured at fair value (by amendment to IAS 16